Case 1:23-cr-00257-TSC Document 226 Filed 08/27/24 Page 1 of 36

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA CRIMINAL NO. 23-cr-257 (TSC)

V. VIOLATIONS:

DONALD J. TRUMP, Count 1: 18 U.S.C. § 371
(Conspiracy to Defraud the United

Defendant. States)

Count 2: 18 U.S.C. § 1512(k)
(Conspiracy to Obstruct an Official
Proceeding)

Count 3: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1512(c)(2), 2
(Obstruction of and Attempt to
Obstruct an Official Proceeding)

Count 4: 18 U.S.C. § 241
(Conspiracy Against Rights)
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SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges that, at all times material to this Superseding Indictment, on or
about the dates and at the approximate times stated below:

INTRODUCTION

1. The Defendant, DONALD J. TRUMP, was a candidate for President of the United
States in 2020. He lost the 2020 presidential election.

2. Despite having lost, the Defendant—who was also the incumbent President—was
determined to remain in power. So, for more than two months following election day on
November 3, 2020, the Defendant spread lies that there had been outcome-determinative fraud in
the election and that he had actually won. These claims were false, and the Defendant knew that

they were false. But the Defendant used his Campaign to repeat and widely disseminate them
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anyway—to make his knowingly false claims appear legitimate, create an intense national
atmosphere of mistrust and anger, and erode public faith in the administration of the election.

3. As a candidate and a citizen, the Defendant had a right, like every American, to
speak publicly aboul the election and even to claim, falsely, that there had been outcome-
determinative fraud during the election and that he had won. He was also entitled to formally
challenge the results of the election through lawful and appropriate means, such as by seeking
recounts or audits of the popular vote in states or filing lawsuits challenging ballots and procedures.
Indeed, in many cases, the Defendant did pursue these methods of contesting the election results.
His efforts to change the outcome in any state through recounts, audits, or legal challenges were
uniformly unsuccessful.

4. Shortly after election day, the Defendant also pursued unlawful means of
discounting legitimate votes and subverting the election results. In so doing, the Defendant
perpetrated three criminal conspiracies:

a. A conspiracy to defraud the United States by using dishonesty, fraud, and
deceit to impair, obstruct, and defeat the lawful federal government function
by which the results of the presidential election are collected, counted, and
certified by the federal government, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371;

b. A conspiracy to corruptly obstruct and impede the January 6 congressional
proceeding at which the collected results of the presidential election are
counted and certified (“the certification proceeding”), in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1512(k); and

c. A conspiracy against the right to vote and to have one’s vote counted, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 241.

Each of these conspiracies—which built on the widespread mistrust the Defendant was creating
through pervasive and destabilizing lies about election fraud—targeted a bedrock function of the
United States federal government: the nation’s process of collecting, counting, and certifying the

results of the presidential election (“the federal government function™).

P
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5. In furtherance of these conspiracies, the Defendant tried—but failed—to enlist the
Vice President, who was also the Defendant’s running mate and, by virtue of the Constitution, the
President of the Senate who plays a ceremonial role in the January 6 certification proceeding.

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy to Defraud the United States—18 U.S.C. § 371)

6. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 5 of this Superseding Indictment

are re-alleged and fully incorporated here by reference.
The Conspiracy

7. From on or about November 13, 2020, through on or about January 20, 2021, in the

District of Columbia and elsewhere, the Defendant,
DONALD J. TRUMP,

did knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with co-conspirators, known and
unknown to the Grand Jury, to defraud the United States by using dishonesty, fraud, and deceit to
impair, obstruct, and defeat the lawful federal government function by which the results of the
presidential election are collected, counted, and certified by the federal government.

Purpose of the Conspiracy

8. The purpose of the conspiracy was to overturn the legitimate results of the 2020
presidential election by using knowingly false claims of election fraud to obstruct the federal
government function by which those results are collected, counted, and certified.

The Defendant’s Co-Conspirators

9. The Defendant enlisted co-conspirators to assist him in his criminal efforts to
overturn the legitimate results of the 2020 presidential election and retain power. These co-
conspirators included the following individuals, none of whom were government officials during

the conspiracies and all of whom were acting in a private capacity:
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a. Co-Conspirator 1, a private attorney whom the Defendant put in charge of
his campaign’s litigation efforts and who was willing to spread knowingly
false claims and pursue strategies that the Defendant’s 2020 re-election
campaign (“Campaign”) attorneys would not.

b. Co-Conspirator 2, a private attorney who devised and attempted to
implement a strategy to leverage the Vice President’s ceremonial role
overseeing the certification proceeding to obstruct the certitication of the
presidential election.

c. Co-Conspirator 3, a private attorney who made unfounded claims of
election fraud that the Defendant embraced and publicly amplified.

d. Co-Conspirator 5, a private attorney who assisted in devising and
attempting to implement a plan to submit fraudulent slates of presidential
electors to obstruct the certification proceeding.

€. Co-Conspirator 6, a private political consultant who helped implement a
plan to submit fraudulent slates of presidential electors to obstruct the
certification proceeding.

The Federal Government Function

10.  The federal government function by which the results of the election for President
of the United States are collected, counted, and certified was established through the Constitution
and the Electoral Count Act (ECA), a federal law enacted in 1887. The Constitution provided that
individuals called electors select the president, and that each state determine for itself how to
appoint the electors apportioned to it. Through state laws, each of the fifty states and the District
of Columbia chose to select their electors based on the popular vote in the state. After election
day, the ECA required each state to formally determine—or “ascertain”—the electors who would
represent the state’s voters by casting electoral votes on behalf of the candidate who had won the
popular vote, and required the executive of each state to certify to the federal government the
identities of those electors. Then, on a date set by the ECA, each state’s ascertained electors were
required to meet and collect the results of the presidential election—that is, to cast electoral votes

based on their state’s popular vote, and to send their electoral votes, along with the state executive’s

wid
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certification that they were the state’s legitimate electors, to the United States Congress to be
counted and certified in an official proceeding. Finally, the Constitution and ECA required that
on the sixth of January following election day, the Congress meet in a Joint Session for a
certification proceeding, presided over by the Vice President as President of the Senate, to count
the electoral votes, resolve any objections, and announce the result—thus certifying the winner of
the presidential election as president-elect. This federal government function—from the point of
ascertainment to the certification—is foundational to the United States’ democratic process, and
until 2021, had operated in a peaceful and orderly manner for more than 130 years.
Manner and Means

11. The Defendant’s conspiracy to impair, obstruct, and defeat the federal government

function through dishonesty, fraud, and deceit included the following manner and means:

a. The Defendant and co-conspirators used knowingly false claims of election
fraud to get state legislators and election officials to subvert the legitimate
election results and change electoral votes for the Defendant’s opponent,
Joseph R. Biden, Jr., to electoral votes for the Defendant. That is, on the
pretext of baseless fraud claims, the Defendant pushed officials in certain
states to ignore the popular vote; disenfranchise millions of voters; dismiss
legitimate electors; and ultimately, cause the ascertainment of and voting
by illegitimate electors in favor of the Defendant.

b. The Defendant and co-conspirators organized fraudulent slates of electors
in seven targeted states (Arizona, Georgia, Michigan, Nevada, New
Mexico, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin), attempting to mimic the procedures
that the legitimate electors were supposed to follow under the Constitution
and other federal and state laws. This included causing the fraudulent
electors to meet on the day appointed by federal law on which legitimate
electors were to gather and cast their votes; cast fraudulent votes for the
Defendant; and sign certificates falsely representing that they were
legitimate electors. Some fraudulent electors were tricked into participating
based on the understanding that their votes would be used only if the
Defendant succeeded in outcome-determinative lawsuits within their state,
which the Defendant never did. The Defendant and co-conspirators then
caused these fraudulent electors to transmit their false certificates to the
Vice President, in his capacity as President of the Senate, and other

-5-
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government officials to be counted at the certification proceeding on
January 6.

c, The Defendant and co-conspirators attempted to enlist the Vice President,
in his ceremonial role as President of the Senate at the January 6
certification proceeding to fraudulently alter the election results. First,
using knowingly false claims of election fraud, the Defendant and co-
conspirators attempted to convince the Vice President to use the
Defendant’s fraudulent electors, reject legitimate electoral votes, or send
legitimate electoral votes to state legislatures for review rather than
counting them. When that failed, on the morning of January 6, the
Defendant and co-conspirators repeated knowingly false claims of election
fraud to gathered supporters, falsely told them that the Vice President had
the authority to and might alter the election results, and directed them to the
Capitol to obstruct the certification proceeding and exert pressure on the
Vice President to take the fraudulent actions he had previously refused.

d. After it became public on the afternoon of January 6 that the Vice President,
as President of the Senate, would not fraudulently alter the election results,
a large and angry crowd—including many individuals whom the Defendant
had deceived into believing the Vice President could and might change the
election results—violently attacked the Capitol and halted the proceeding.
As violence ensued, the Defendant and co-conspirators exploited the
disruption by redoubling efforts to levy false claims of election fraud and
convince Members of Congress to further delay the certification based on
those claims.

The Defendant’s Knowledge of the Falsity of His Election Fraud Claims

12.  Throughout the conspiracies, the Defendant, co-conspirators, and their agents made
knowingly false claims that there had been outcome-determinative fraud in the 2020 presidential
election. These false claims were unsupported, objectively unreasonable, and ever-changing, and
the Defendant and co-conspirators repeated them even after they were publicly disproven. These
prolific lies about election fraud included dozens of specific claims that there had been substantial
fraud in certain states, such as that large numbers of dead, non-resident, n'on-citizen, or otherwise
ineligible voters had cast ballots, or that voting machines had changed votes for the Defendant to

votes for Biden. These claims were false, and the Defendant knew that they were false.
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13.  The Defendant was on notice that his claims were untrue. He was told so by those
most invested in his re-election, including his own running mate and his campaign staff. Federal
and state courts rejected every outcome-determinative post-election lawsuit filed by the Defendant,
co-conspirators, and their allies. State officials—including election directors and Secretaries of
State in his own political party—issued public statements dispelling the Defendant’s and co-
conspirators’ myth of widespread election fraud. And on November 12, the National Association
of Secretaries of State, the National Association of State Election Directors, and other
organizations issued a statement on behalf of several coordinated entities, declaring the 2020
election to be “the most secure in American history” and that there was “no evidence that any
voting system deleted or lost votes, changed votes, or was in any way compromised.”

14.  The Defendant continued to make false claims nonetheless, with deliberate
disregard for the truth, including through his Twitter account. Throughout the conspiracies,
although the Defendant sometimes used his Twitter account to communicate with the public, as
President, about official actions and policies, he also regularly used it for personal purposes—
including to spread knowingly false claims of election fraud, exhort his supporters to travel to
Washington, D.C. on January 6, pressure the Vice President to misuse his ceremonial role in the
certification proceeding, and leverage the events at the Capitol on January 6 to unlawfully retain
power.

15.  The Defendant continued his lies through the day of the certification proceeding on
January 6. That morning, the Defendant gave a Campaign speech at a privately-funded, privately-
organized political rally held on the Ellipse in Washington, D.C. During the speech, the Defendant
used many of the same unsupported, objectively unreasonable, and publicly disproven lies to

exhort the gathered crowd to march to the Capitol.
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The Criminal Agreement and Acts to Effect the Object of the Conspiracy

16.  To effect the object of the conspiracy, the Defendant and co-conspirators
committed one or more of the acts set forth below:

1The Detendant’s Use of Deceit to Get State Officials to
Subverl the Legitimate Election Resulls and Change Electoral Votes

17.  Shortly after election day—which fell on November 3, 2020—the Defendant
launched his criminal scheme. On November 13, the Defendant’s Campaign attorneys conceded
in court that he had lost the vote count in the state of Arizona—meaning, based on the assessment
the Defendant’s Campaign advisors had given him just a week earlier, the Defendant had lost the
election. So that day, the Defendant turned to Co-Conspirator 1, whom he announced on
November 14 would spearhead his efforts going forward to challenge the election results. From
that point on, the Defendant and co-conspirators executed a strategy to use knowing deceit in the
targeted states to impair, obstruct, and defeat the federal government function, including as
described below. The Defendant had no official responsibilities related to any state’s certification
of the election results.

Arizona

18. On November 13, 2020, the Defendant had a conversation with his Campaign
Managet, who informed him that a claim that had been circulating—that a substantial number of
non-citizens had voted in Arizona—was false.

19.  OnNovember 22, eight days before Arizona’s Governor certified the ascertainment
of the state’s legitimate electors based on the popular vote, the Defendant and Co-Conspirator 1
called the Speaker of the Arizona House of Representatives and made knowingly false claims of
election fraud aimed at interfering with the ascertainment of and voting by Arizona’s electors, as

follows:



a. The Defendant and Co-Conspirator 1 falsely asserted, among other things,
that a substantial number of non-citizens, non-residents, and dead people
had voted fraudulently in Arizona. The Arizona House Speaker asked Co-
Conspirator 1 for evidence of the claims, which Co-Conspirator 1 did not
have, but claimed he would provide. Co-Conspirator 1 never did so.

b. The Defendant and Co-Conspirator 1 asked the Arizona House Speaker to
call the legislature into session to hold a hearing based on their claims of
election fraud. The Arizona House Speaker refused, stating that doing so
would require a two-thirds vote of its members, and he would not allow it
without actual evidence of fraud.

C. The Defendant and Co-Conspirator 1 asked the Arizona House Speaker to
use the legislature to circumvent the process by which legitimate electors
would be ascertained for Biden based on the popular vote, and replace those
electors with a new slate for the Defendant. The Arizona House Speaker
refused, responding that the suggestion was beyond anything he had ever
heard or thought of as something within his authority.

20. On December 1, Co-Conspirator 1 met with the Arizona House Speaker. When the
Arizona House Speaker again asked Co-Conspirator 1 for evidence of the outcome-determinative
election fraud he and the Defendant had been claiming, Co-Conspirator 1 responded with words
to the effect of, "We don't have the evidence, but we have lots of theories."

21. On December 4, the Arizona House Speaker issued a public statement that said, in
part:

No election is perfect, and if there were evidence of illegal votes or
an improper count, then Arizona law provides a process to contest
the election: a lawsuit under state law. But the law does not
authorize the Legislature to reverse the results of an election.

As a conservative Republican, I don't like the results of the
presidential election. I voted for President Trump and worked hard
to reelect him. But | cannot and will not entertain a suggestion that
we violate current law to change the outcome of a certified election.

I and my fellow legislators swore an oath to support the U.S.
Constitution and the constitution and laws of the state of Arizona. It
would violate that oath, the basic principles of republican
government, and the rule of law if we attempted to nullify the



